

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology I (IIII) III-III

www.elsevier.de/jtemb

REVIEW

Role of soil microbes in the rhizospheres of plants growing on trace metal contaminated soils in phytoremediation

Abdul G. Khan^{*}

Faculty of Science, Environment and Technology, School of Science, Food and Horticulture, University of Western Sydney, Locked Bag 1797, Penrith South DC, NSW 1797, Australia

Received 6 February 2005; accepted 21 February 2005

Abstract

This article reviews recent developments in in situ bioremediation of trace metal contaminated soils, with particular reference to the microbial dynamics in the rhizospheres of plants growing on such soils and their significance in phytoremediation. In non-agricultural conditions, the natural role of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR), Psolubilizing bacteria, mycorrhizal-helping bacteria (MHB) and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) in maintaining soil fertility is more important than in conventional agriculture, horticulture, and forestry where higher use of agrochemicals minimize their significance. These microbes initiate a concerted action when a particular population density is achieved, i.e. quorum sensing. AMF also recognize their host by signals released by host roots, allowing a functional symbiosis. AM fungi produce an insoluble glycoprotein, glomalin, which sequester trace elements and it should be considered for biostabilization leading to remediation of contaminated soils. Conclusions drawn from studies of metal uptake kinetics in solution cultures may not be valid for more complex field conditions and use of some combination of glasshouse and field experiments with organisms that occur within the same plant community is suggested. Phytoextraction strategies, such as inoculation of plants to be used for phytoremediation with appropriate heavy metal adapted rhizobial microflora, cocropping system involving a non-mycorrhizal hyperaccumulator plant and a non-accumulator but mycorrhizal with appropriate AMF, or pre-cropping with mycotrophic crop systems to optimize phytoremediation processes, merit further field level investigations. There is also a need to improve our understanding of the mechanisms involved in transfer and mobilization of trace elements by rhizosphere microbiota and to conduct research on selection of microbial isolates from rhizosphere of plants growing on heavy metal contaminated soils for specific restoration programmes. This is necessary if we are to improve the chances of successful phytoremediation.

© 2005 Published by Elsevier GmbH.

Keywords: Arbuscular mycorrhiza; Heavy metals; Soil microbiota; Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria; Mycorrhiza helper bacteria; In situ mycorrhizoremediation; Mycorrhizosphere; Phytoremediation strategies

Contents

Introduction: soil pollution with trace elements
Soil contamination sources
Remediation technologies

*Corresponding author. Present address: Botany Department, Arid Agriculture University, Murree Road, Rawalpindi, Pakistan. Tel.: +61246203237; fax: +61246203025.

E-mail address: a.khan@uws.edu.au (A.G. Khan).

0946-672X/\$-see front matter (C) 2005 Published by Elsevier GmbH. doi:10.1016/j.jtemb.2005.02.006

A.G. Khan / Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology I (IIII) III-III

Phytoremediation	2
Rhizospheres	3
Rhizospheres and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria	3
Rhizosphere and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi	
Arbuscular mycorrhizae in plants growing in metal contaminated soils.	
Arbuscular mycorrhizae in metal hyperaccumulating plants	5
Phytoremediation strategies involving rhizosphere microbes	5
Inoculating plants used for phytoremediation with rhizobial microflora	5
Intercropping system	6
Co-cropping system	6
Pre-cropping with mycotrophic crops	6
Conclusion	7
References	7

Introduction: soil pollution with trace elements

Soil contamination sources

Metals such as lead, arsenic, cadmium, copper, zinc, nickel, and mercury are continuously being added to our soils through various agricultural activities such as agrochemicals usage and long-term application of urban sewage sludge in agricultural soils, industrial activities such as waste disposal, waste incineration and vehicle exhausts, as well as from anthropogenic sources. All these sources cause accumulation of metals and metalloids in our agricultural soils and pose threat to food safety issues and potential health risks due to soil-toplant transfer of metals. Co-existence and persistence of heavy metals in soils as multiple contaminants and human exposure to them through ingestion of heavy metal contaminated food or uptake of contaminated drinking water can lead to their accumulation in humans, plants and animals. They can also cause a considerable detrimental effect on soil ecosystems, environment and human health due to their mobilities and solubilities which determine their speciation [1]. In some cases, the soil may be contaminated to such an extent that it may be classified as a hazardous waste [2] Soil contamination with heavy metal mixtures is receiving increasing attention from the public as well as governmental bodies, particularly in developing countries [3]. The remediation of such soils is important because these usually cover large areas that are rendered unsuitable for agricultural and other human use.

Remediation technologies

Various physico-chemical and biological remedial technologies have been developed over the last three decades and selection of each technology is site specific [4–6]. Biochemical processes such as bioleaching involving *Thiobacillus* spp. bacteria and *Aspergillus niger* fungus, biosorption of low concentrations of metals in water by algal or bacterial cells, bio-oxidation or bio-

reduction of metal contaminants by Bacillus subtilis and sulphate reducing bacteria, and biomethylation of metals such as arsenic, cadmium, mercury or lead, have shown some promises and could be used for soil sediment treatments [4]. Several technologies exist for in situ chemically enhanced soil flushing by extracting solutions such as organic and inorganic acids, and complexation agents have also been proposed for remediation [7]. All these methods in many cases are expensive, labour intensive, and result in extensive changes to the physical, chemical, and biological characteristics of the treated soil. Physical and chemical methods of remediation of contaminated soils are mainly applicable to relatively small areas and are unsuitable for very large areas such as a typical mining site or industrially/agrochemically contaminated soils.

Phytoremediation

The health hazards associated with soil contamination with trace elements having toxic effects together with high cost of removal and replacement of polluted soil have prompted to develop alternative and cheaper technologies to recover the degraded land. Current research in this area now includes plants to remediate polluted soils and to facilitate improvement of soil structure, the innovative technique being known as phytoremediation [8]. Plant-based technologies are applicable for removing metals from areas of low concentrations with shallow soils and water, although longer treatment times may be required [9]. Use of plants that have constitutive and adaptive mechanisms for tolerating or accumulating high metal contents in their rhizosphere and tissues, is the emerging in situ remediation technology employed in the clean up of soils, sediments and water that have been polluted by organics and heavy metals [10-13]. This technology is termed phytoremediation and it aims to use metal accumulating plants to remove, transfer or stabilize

these contaminants from soil, sediments and water. It is a natural, clean and economic alternative to physical and chemical methods of clean up.

Phytoremediation can be categorized under five major subgroups:

- (i) Phyoextraction removal and concentration of metals into harvestable plant parts.
- (ii) Phytodegradation degradation of contaminants by plants and their associated microbes.
- (iii) Rhizofilteration absorption of metals by plant roots from contaminated waters.
- (iv) Phytostabilization immobilization and reduction in the mobility and bioavailability of contaminants by plant roots and their associated microbes.
- (v) Phytovolatilization volatilization of contaminants by plants from the soil into the atmosphere [11].

Phytoremediation, however, is a relatively slow process. It may take some years to reduce metal contents in soil to a safe and acceptable level due to small size and slow growth of most identified metal hyperaccumulator plants. Their employment in phytoremediation is restricted due to these reasons. To make phytoremediation a viable technology, we have to either find fast growing and metal tolerant and or hyperaccumulating plants with extensive root system, or, engineer common plants with as yet unidentified hyperaccumulation genes. Many fast growing and high biomass producing plants such as vetiver grass and hemp may not be defined as metal hyperaccumulators, but are metal tolerant allowing them to grow in soil with high metal concentrations. The possibilities of using such plant species which are easily growing in different climates, and using their biomass in non-food industries, can make them ideal plants for phytoremediation purposes [14,15].

Phytoremediation must be considered as a long-term strategy [16]. Various means have been tested in the last decade or so to find ways of enhancing the process. Plant uptake of metals is frequently restricted by limitations of contaminant bioavailability and in order to enhance metal uptake, soil amendments with metal chelating agents such as EDTA, HEDTA, DTPA, EGTA, NTA, citrate and hydroxylamine to make metals bioavailable and absorbed by plant roots have shown promises [17–19]. The type of chelate and its time of application are important considerations. It has also been suggested that if the plant biomass can be increased, then metal phytoextraction can be increased more than the plant can take up normally [20]. Use of plant growth regulators (PGR) such as auxins and cytokinins have shown to enhance phytoremediation abilities of non-hyperaccumulating plants by increasing their growth and biomass [21,22]. Patten and Glick [23] reported enhanced bioavailability of iron by applying plant hormone indol-acetic acid (IAA) via a mechanism

different from that involving siderophores. IAA is also produced by many plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) such as *Pseudomonad* and *Acinetobacter* strains which result in enhanced uptake of iron, zinc, magnesium, calcium, potassium and phosphorus by crop plants [24]. Usefulness of PGPR is, however, limited under nutrient deficient conditions. Fertilizers have been used to help plants to increase their biomass and to extract more metals [25]. Further research needs to be carried out to find suitable combination of plant, PGPR, and soil type in order to investigate their potential(s) in increasing metal uptake by hyperaccumulator plants and improving the process of phytoextraction.

This review will now discuss the occurrence and potential role of both free-living and symbiotic soil microbes in the rhizosphere of plants growing on metal contaminated soils in increasing plant biomass production and enhancing phytoremediation process.

Rhizospheres

Since 1904, when the term 'rhizosphere' was first coined by Hiltner [26], rhizosphere processes of plants have been widely investigated; however, little attention has been paid to the microbial community of rhizospheres of plants growing on metal contaminated sites. Soil microorganisms, including plant root associated free-living as well as symbiotic rhizobacteria and mycorrhizal fungi in particular, are integral part of the rhizosphere biota. The overall result of plant-rhizosphere microbe interactions is a higher microbial density and their metabolic activity in the rhizosphere, even in metal contaminated soils [27]. Plant root exudates provide nutrition to rhizosphere microbes, thus increasing microbiological activity in the rhizosphere, which in turn stimulate plant growth. Marschner and Baumann [28], studied the changes in bacterial community structure in the rhizosphere induced by mycorrhizal colonization in split-root infection by non-cultural techniques such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and concluded that the effects may, at least in part, be due to changes in root-exudation with plant age.

Rhizospheres and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria

The PGPR enhance plant growth by atmospheric nitrogen fixation, phytohormone production, specific enzymatic activity, plant protection from diseases by producing anti-biotic and other pathogen-depressing substances such as siderophores and chelating agents (for references see [29]).

A.G. Khan / Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology I (IIII) III-III

Microbial cells can produce and sense signal molecules, allowing the whole population to spread as a biofilm over the root surface and initiating a concerted action when a particular population density is achieved. This phenomenon is known as quorum sensing, which, in combination with other regulatory systems, expands the range of environmental signals that target gene expression beyond population density [30]. The nitrogen-fixing rhizobial bacteria, chemotactically attracted towards legume roots by certain root exudates, adhere to and colonize the root surface, and activate rhizobial nodulation genes, Nod factors. Many quorum sensing signal molecules such as *N*-acyl-homoserine lactones (AHLS) are produced which regulate expression and repression of the symbiotic genes [30].

Free-living as well as symbiotic PGPR can enhance plant growth directly by providing bio-available phosphorus for plant uptake, fixing nitrogen for plant use, sequestring trace elements like iron for plants by siderophores, producing plant hormones like auxins, cytokinins and gibberellins, and lowering of plant ethylene levels [31]. The use of PGPR in phytoremediation technologies is now being considered to play an important role as adding PGPR can aid plant growth on contaminated sites [32] and enhance detoxification of soil [33]. PGPR are also beneficial to plants growing on derelict soils by conferring resistance to water stress in tomatoes and peppers [33]. The properties of plants used for phytoremediation, e.g. biomass production, low level contaminant uptake, plant nutrition and health, are improved by PGPR but it is important to choose PGPR which can survive and succeed when used in phytoremediation practices. Pairing PGPR with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) may be a good way of increasing the efficiency of phytoremediation. Although the role of PGPR is potentially important in the phytoremediation strategies, research in this area, as pointed out by Lucy et al. [34], is very limited and requires field studies to support greenhouse or growth chamber results.

Rhizosphere and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

AMF are ubiquitous soil microflora and constitute an important functional component of the rhizosphere. These fungi form symbiotic relationships with roots of 80–90% land plants in natural, agricultural, and forest ecosystems [35]. Such associations are also common in aquatic plants under oligotrophic conditions [36].

AM symbiosis is >460 million years old and the most widespread type of mycorrhizal associations with plants possessing true roots, i.e. pteridophytes, gymnosperms and angiosperms [37]. Approximately 160 fungal taxa of Glomeromycota have been described on the basis of their spore morphology and root infection patterns [38]. The number of AM fungal taxa may be much higher based on recent molecular analyses [39].

AMF may also play a role in the protection of roots from heavy metal toxicity by mediating interactions between metals and plant roots [40,41]. The external fungal hyphae exploit a larger volume of nutrient deficient resources in the soil that are otherwise unavailable for uptake by roots alone [42]. Therefore, AMF may be important for the revegetation of metal polluted soils. Wang et al. [43] studied the effect of chitosan and AM fungus on copper, zinc, and lead accumulation by Elsholzia splendens grown in soil contaminated by copper smelt factory fly ash and reported enhanced uptake of these metals by mycorrhizal plants without showing any symptoms of heavy metal toxicity as compared to the controls. The authors also found that AMF or chitosan alone did not significantly increase the metal concentrations in E. splendens.

AM fungi also recognize their host by signals released by host roots, allowing a functional symbiosis [44-46], and in the absence of the host root these fungi do not produce mycelia and consequently complete their life cycle. Root exudates from the AM host plants are known to stimulate spore germination and early growth of AMF hyphae. On the contrary, root exudates from non-mycorrhizal hosts such as mustard, spinach, sugarbeet and lupin inhibit asymbiotic [47] as well as symbiotic extra radical hyphal growth of AMF from spores and level of root colonization [48]. Reduced root colonization by AMF is regarded to be due to inhibitory compounds in the root exudates of crucifers, which play a role in the expression of non-host status of some plants [49]. Recently, a C-glycosylflavonoid was detected in the non-mycorrhizal roots but not in the mycorrhizal roots of melon [50], and application of this flavonoid to AMFinoculated melon plants enhanced root colonization, suggesting that root colonization-stimulating compounds in root exudates are involved in mycorrhization. Recent studies by Piche and associates [48], however, showed that root exudates of non-mycorrhizal cucumber plants stimulate root colonization, whereas root exudates from the mycorrhizal and the non-mycorrhizal sides of a split-root system did not show this stimulatory effect and were slightly inhibitory. These studies indicate that root exudates in mycorrhizal plants may be partially involved in systemic resistance of mycorrhizal plants to soil-borne fungal pathogens.

The obligatory biotrophic AMF, in the absence of a host, do not maintain their viability and host infection capability. Many cellular events are involved in the survival of individual AMF growing in the absence of the host plant root [51]. The fate and behaviour of individual AM fungal spores that germinate in the absence of appropriate hosts may affect their survival due to many active cellular events taking place in the

5

cytoskeleton of AMF hyphae which undergo prolonged growth arrest and resource reallocation [51]. Prolonged presence of AMF spores in the soil without host plant has been shown to induce a progressive increase in the proportion of empty AMF hyphae [52], suggesting the occurrence of a senescence phase in the mycelium of AM fungi. However, these resting AMF spores are still viable and capable of renewed growth in response to host roots [51,53,54].

Arbuscular mycorrhizae in plants growing in metal contaminated soils

AM fungi are ubiquitous soil microbes occurring in almost all habitats and climates, including metal contaminated soils [55] and are considered essential for the survival and growth of plants growing in nutrient especially phosphorus deficient derelict soils. However, polluted wastelands contain reduced population diversity and number of autochthonous AMF strains which are heavy metal tolerant [56].

Studies with AM fungi have focused on their ability to enhance nutrient uptake in a nutrient deficient soil and have ignored the role they may play in phytoremediation. The prospect of fungal symbionts existing in metal contaminated soils has important implications for phytoremediation (mycorrhizoremediation) of metal contaminated soils as AM fungi help plant growth through enhanced nutrient uptake.

Arbuscular mycorrhizae in metal hyperaccumulating plants

Plant species belonging to plant families Chenopodiaceae, Cruciferaceae, Plumbaginaceae, Juncaceae, Juncaginaceae, Amaranthaceae and few members of Fabaceae, are believed not to form a symbiosis with AMF [42]. Many hyperaccumulators belong to the family Brassicaceae but there are conflicting reports regarding their mycotrophic status. Hirrel et al. [57] reported them to be non-mycorrhizal but 1-5% AMF root colonization occurred in 7 species of crucifers when grown in the presence of a mycorrhizal companion plant. DeMars and Boerner [58] made an extensive literature survey of crucifers and revealed that roots of 18.9% of the 946 members investigated were found to be colonized with internal hyphae, occasional vesicles but no arbuscules. Since arbuscules are the major site of nutrient exchange, including metals, between the plant and AMF, these associations are non-functional [59]. Pawlowska et al. [60] found roots of *Biscutella laevigata*, a Brassicaceous plant colonizing the calamine mounds in Poland, to be mycorrhizal but without arbuscules, a criterion of a functional mycorrhiza. However, a latter study by Orlowska et al. [61], who re-examined the mycorrhizal status of B. laevigata and the role of restoration of zinc-wastes on mycorrhization of this cruciferous plant species, observed AM hyphae, vesicles, as well as arbuscules in its roots collected prior to seed maturity. However, arbuscules were found by the authors in the roots collected during the flowering period, whereas only hyphal coils and vesicles were observed after seed formation. Similar observations were made by Saif and Khan [62] who reported the extent of arbuscule formation influenced by the stage of development of the wheat plants, i.e. arbuscular infection during the vegetative growth period followed by a sharp fall at the time of flowering and ripening when vesicles were abundant in old tissues before they sloughed off. DeMars and Boerner [58] also reported absence of arbuscules in Brassicaceous plants under green house condition.

Regvar et al. [63] examined roots of pennycresses, i.e. Thlaspi spp. of the Brassicaceae, collected from diverse locations in Europe for AM fungal infections by applying PCR approaches such as 18S-rDNA PCR products and found that the meadow species were sparsely but distinctly colonized by Glomus intraradices, as indicated by the occurrence of hyphae, vesicles and arbuscules. Species from other locations, including those collected from metal contaminated soils, were found to be poorly colonized but with non-discernible abuscules. Sequencing of the rDNA PCR-products revealed that, although colonization was by a common AM fungus G. intraradices, none of the sequences obtained from the Thlaspi roots was identical to any other G. intraradices sequences, indicating slightly different sequences from habitat to habitat [64]. This might indicate, as stated by the authors, that a species continuum exists in G. intraradices clade. An AM fungal ecotype specifically adapted to heavy metals may exist at such locations. Regvar et al. [63] failed to establish an effective colonization of Thlaspi roots by AMF under greenhouse conditions and concluded that it is doubtful whether an affective symbiosis with the mutual exchange of metabolites is formed by both partners. The authors also concluded that the use of AMF-Thlaspi combination for phytoremediation is not possible. Maybe a complex control mechanism and signals are involved in this plant-AMF interactions [65].

Phytoremediation strategies involving rhizosphere microbes

Inoculating plants used for phytoremediation with rhizobial microflora

Contaminated soils, which are often nutrient poor and with low water holding capacities, have been related to the incidence of AM fungi, suggesting a selective advantage of plants colonized by these fungi, acting as pioneering species on such sites [17]. Recently, Andrade et al. [66] studied the influence of lead additions on AM and Rhizobium symbiosis under soybean plants and found that in the presence of both microsymbionts, AMF and Bradyrhizobium, mycorrhizae benefited soybean plants due to their better nutritional state under conditions of high lead availability in the soil. Plant growth promoting bacterium Kluvvera ascorbata SUD165 isolated from metal contaminated wetland near Sudbury, Ontario, Canada, protected canola plants against nickel toxicity when grown in soils supplemented with nickel, lead, zinc, and chromate [67]. It may be possible to inoculate plants with such rhizobial microbes in order to increase plant biomass and thereby stabilizing, revegetating, and remediating heavy metal polluted soils.

Managing the microbial population in the rhizosphere by using an inoculum consisting of a consortium of PGPR, mycorrhiza-helping bacteria (MHB), nitrogenfixing rhizobacteria, and AMF as allied colonizers and biofertilizers, could provide plants with benefits crucial for ecosystem restoration on derelict lands [68–70].

It is important to use indigenous AMF strains which are best adapted to actual soil and climatic conditions to produce site-specific AMF inocula. The role of AMF in reducing cadmium stress was investigated by Rivera-Becerril et al. [71], who found that, even though the AMF G. intraradices BEG141 used was not previously been exposed to cadmium, it attenuated the toxic effect of cadmium in pea. The authors also found that genetic variability can exist between plant species, depending on the level of metals present in soils. Many soil-less techniques have now been developed to produce efficient AMF inocula [72]. If indigenous AMF exist in the contaminated soil to be phytoremediated, management of the indigenous AMF and their associate rhizobial microflora would be an important strategy. During soil restoration, the evaluation of mycorrhiza development and other soil microflora could be used as an important indicator of ecosystem efficiency, in order to biomonitor the success of mycorrhizoremediation [73]. Phytoremediation using plants associated with efficient and metal tolerant/adaptive AMF isolates, will be enhanced in soils devoid of AMF [74]. The structure of the plant community appears to be driven by the biodiversity of AMF [75,76]. Further research is needed on AMF ecotypes isolated and selected from heavy metal contaminated soils and being used for specific restoration programs. Molecular tools such as taxon specific primers could be successfully used to assess the success of AMF in colonizing plants used for restoration.

Different mechanisms have been proposed to explain the protective effect of AM and metal stress [77–79]. As stated by Burd et al. [67], in heavily contaminated soils where the metal content exceeds the limit of plant tolerance, it may be possible to treat plants with rhizosphere microbes, increasing plant biomass and thereby stabilizing, revegetating, and remediating metalpolluted soils.

Intercropping system

Wu et al. [80] used an intercropping system to examine the interactions of mycorrhizosphere and rhizosphere on metal uptake by growing mycorrhizal non-hyperaccumulator *Zea mays* and non-mycorrhizal hyperaccumulator *Brassica juncea* in a split-pot experiment. Their results showed that the intercropping system achieved higher phytoremediation efficiency in metal contaminated soil, especially with dual inoculation of beneficial rhizobacteria and AM fungi.

Similar studies were conducted by Zhang et al. [81] who grew peanuts (leguminous crop) and maize (non-leguminous crop) and found that the iron-deficient maize released phytosiderophores which improved iron nutrition of peanuts through influencing its rhizosphere processes. Similarly, improved growth of maize and faba beans in an intercropping system was found by these authors to be due to improved nitrogen and phosphorus uptake compared with corresponding sole crop.

Co-cropping system

Wu et al. [82] used a co-crop system with the metal hyperaccumulator plants Thlaspi caerulescens and Sedum alfredii and the low-accumulating but highly mycorrhiza dependent corn, Zea mays L. to increase phytoextraction efficiency from Zn-contaminated sewage sludge. The authors compared the co-crop systems with the mono-crop cultures and found that the hyperaccumulators, when grown with maize as a cocrop, extracted more Zn from the sewage sludge as compared with the mono-cultures of these plants. This is a step in the right direction to better understand the interactions between the non-mycorrhizal hyperaccumulators and the mycorrhizal plant species in order to increase the efficiency of the process and further experiments are needed using different combinations of co-crop systems.

Pre-cropping with mycotrophic crops

Another possible strategy to exploit AM fungi for phytoremediation purposes is to use mycorrhiza-dependent plant species pre-inoculated with metal tolerant AMF on the site to be remediated followed by growing mycorrhiza-responsive plant species which can benefit from the AMF potential of soil left by the pre-crop. Recently, Panja and Chaudhuri [83] applied this strategy and carried out a nursery experiment to study the effect of short season pre-cropping with different mycotrophic herbaceous crops followed by growing AM-dependent mandarin orange. The authors recorded greater growth benefit to mandarin oranges by mycorrhizal pre-crops such as soybean and onion than by the non-mycorrhizal crops such as mustard and ginger. Their results show that an AM-dependent crop grown even for a short season can substantially alter the inherent AMF potential of soils to significantly influence the performance of the succeeding mycorrhiza-dependent plants. This strategy allows managing the native AMF through choice of crops and cropping systems to ecological management of derelict and low input land.

Conclusion

The above studies imply that it is possible to develop new phytoextraction strategies with an inoculation of plants used for phytoremediation with rhizobial microbes, co-cropping/intercropping systems, or pre-cropping with mycotrophic crops in order to enhance phytoextraction of metals from contaminated soils. A better understanding of the physical, chemical and biological rhizosphere processes and the interactions between hyperaccumulator and non-accumulator plant species in an intercropping or pre-cropping with mycotrophic crops system is needed to optimize phytoremediation and further investigations at field levels should be carried out.

Because of the ecological implications discussed above, AM associations along with the associated integral microbial components of a very diverse soil biota should be considered in plans for the ecological restoration of functional ecosystems on metal contaminated land and should be a significant component of studies assessing derelict land ecosystem dynamics. It is clear that AMF are an important component of natural ecosystems, and that they can influence the development of plant community composition and ecosystem function. The phytoremediation of disturbed lands, and the course of plant succession in such environments may be strongly influenced by inoculation with AM fungi and their associate rhizobacteria. Recently, Mohammad et al. [84] reported improved growth of wheat in a field containing low levels of phosphorus and a low population of indigenous AMF, when inoculated with commercially produced sheared-root inoculum of Glomus intraradices, indicating that the introduced AMF can compete with the indigenous AMF and benefit plant growth. Our group [85] may have been the first to demonstrate the potential value of pre-inoculating plants with AM fungi and transplanting them into

nutrient deficient field soil with its indigenous AMF population, but we must admit that we do not know how long such introduced strains persist. The composition of AMF community, including associated rhizobacteria, and their interactions clearly have relevance to mycorrhizoremediation of contaminated soils and water. However, the significance of apparently obligate symbiotic bacteria-like organisms within spores and hyphae off AM fungi, with ability to fix nitrogen, to the biology of the plant and the fungus has yet to be elucidated. Further research is also needed to investigate various chemical aspects of metal accumulation, e.g. diffusion of metals, release of specific chelators in the rhizosphere by accumulating and non-accumulating plants, the dynamics and persistence or decomposition of chelates and metal-chelate complexes in the rhizospheres/soil, and other constrains on the process of phytoextraction. This knowledge may enable us to understand other contributing soil and environmental processes. In addition, we need to understand the mechanisms involved in mobilization and transfer of metals in order to develop future strategies and optimize the phytoextraction process.

References

- Kabata-Pendias A. Trace metals in soils in Poland occurrence and behaviour. Soil Sci 1992;140:53–70.
- [2] Berti WR, Jacob LW. Chemistry and phytotoxicity of soil trace elements from repeated sewage sludge application. J Environ Qual 1996;25:1025–32.
- [3] Yanez L, Ortiz D, Calderon J, Batres L, Carrizales L, Mejia J. Overview of human health and chemical mixtures: problems facing developing countries. Environ Health Perspect 2002;110(Suppl. 6):901–9.
- [4] Mulligan CN, Young RN, Gibbs BF. Remediation technologies for metal-contaminated soils and groundwater: an evaluation. Eng Geol 2001;60:193–207.
- [5] Mulligan CN, Young RN, Gibbs BF. On the use of biosurfactants for the removal of heavy metals from oil contaminated soil. Environ Prog 1999;18(1):50–4.
- [6] Smith LA, Means JL, Chen A, Alleman B, Chapma CC, Tixier Jr JS, Brauning SE, Gavaskar AR, Royer MD. Remedial options for metal contaminated sites. Boca Raton, FL: Lewis; 1995.
- [7] Patterson JW. Industrial Wastewater Treatment Technology, 2nd ed. Boston: Butterworth; 1985.
- [8] Brooks RR. Geobotany and hyperaccumulators. In: Brook RR, editor. Plants that hyperaccumulate heavy metals. Wallingford, UK: CAB International; 1998. p. 55–94.
- [9] Wenzel WW, Adriano DC, Salt D, Smith R. Phytoremediation: a plant-microbe-based remediation system. In: Adriano DC, et al. editors. Bioremediation of Contaminated Soils. Agronomy Monographs 37. Madison, WI: ASA, CSSA and SSSA; 1999. p. 457–508.

- [10] Khan AG, Chaudhry TM, Hayes WJ, Khoo CS, Hill L, Fernandez R, Gallardo P. Physical, chemical and biological characterization of a steelworks waste site at Port Kembla, NSW, Australia. Water Air Soil Pollut 1998;104:389–402.
- [11] Chaudhry TM, Hayes WJ, Khan AG, Khoo CS. Phytoremediation—focusing on hyperaccumulator plants that remediate metal-contaminated soils. Aust J Ecotoxicol 1998;4:37–51.
- [12] Hayes WJ, Chaudhry RT, Buckney RT, Khan AG. Phytoaccumulation of trace metals at the Sunny Corner mine, New South Wales, with suggestions for a possible remediation strategy. Aust J Ecotoxicol 2003;9:69–82.
- [13] Khan AG. Mycotrophy and its significance in wetland ecology and wetland management. In: Wong MH, editor. Developments in ecosystems, vol. 1. Northhampton, UK: Elsevier; 2004. p. 97–114 [Chapter 7].
- [14] Linger P, Mussing J, Fischer H, Kobert J. Industrial hemp (*Cannabis sativa* L.) growing on heavy metal contaminated soil: fibre quality and phytoremediation potential. Ind Crops Prod 2002;16:33–42.
- [15] Khan AG. Vetiver grass as an ideal phytosymbiont for Glomalian fungi for ecological restoration of derelict land. In: Truong P, Hanping X, editors. Proceedings of the third international conference on vetiver and exhibition: vetiver and water, Guangzou, China, October 2003. Beijing: China Agricultural Press; 2003. p. 466–74.
- [16] Cunningham SD, Berti WR, Huang JW. Phytoremediation of contaminated soils. Tibitech 1995;13:393–7.
- [17] Khan AG, Kuek C, Chaudhry TM, Khoo CS, Hayes WJ. Role of plants, mycorrhizae and phytochelators in heavy metal contaminated land remediation. Chemosphere 2000;41:197–207.
- [18] Romken P, Bouwman L, Japenga J, Draaisma K. Potentials and drawbacks of chelate-enhanced phytoremediation of soils. Environ Pollut 2002;116:109–21.
- [19] Blaylock MJ, Salt DE, Dushenkhov S, Zakharova O, Gussman C, Kapulnik Y, Ensley BD, Raskin I. Enhanced accumulation of Pb in Indian mustard by soil-applied chelating agents. Environ Sci Technol 1997;31:860–5.
- [20] Ebbs DS, Kochian LV. Toxicity of zinc and copper to *Brassica* species: implications for phytoremediation. J Environ Qual 1997;26:776–81.
- [21] Fuentes HD, Khoo CS, Pe T, Muir S, Khan AG. Phytoremediation of a contaminated mine site using plant growth regulators to increase heavy metal uptake. In: Sanches MA, Vergara F, Castro SH, editors. Waste treatment and environmental impact in the mining industry. Victor Lamas, Concepcion, Chile: University of Concepcion Press; 2000. p. 427–35.
- [22] Pe T, Fuentes HD, Khoo CS, Muir S, Khan AG. Preliminary experimental results in phytoremediation of a contaminated mine site using plant growth regulators to increase heavy metal uptake. In: Handbook and abstracts 15th Australian statistical conference, 3–7 July 2000. Adelaid Hilton International, South Australia, 2000. p. 143–4.
- [23] Patten CL, Glick BR. Bacterial biosynthesis of indol-3 acetic acid. Can J Microbiol 1996;42:207–20.

- [24] Lippmann B, Leinhos V, Bergmann H. Influence of auxin producing rhizobacteria on root morphology and nutrient accumulation of crops. 1. Changes in root morphology and nutrient accumulation in maize (*Zea mays* L.) caused by inoculation with indol-3 acetic acid (IAA) producing *Pseudomonas* and *Acinetobacter* strains of IAA applied exogenously. Angew Bot 1995;69:31–6.
- [25] Shetty KG, Hetrick BAD, Schwab AP. Effects of mycorrhizae and fertilizer amendments on zinc tolerance of plants. Environ Pollut 1995;88:307–14.
- [26] Hiltner L. Über neuere Erfahrungen und Probleme auf dem Gebiet der Berücksichtigung der Gründüngung und Brache. Arb Deutsch Landwirt Ges 1904;98:59–78.
- [27] van der Lelie D. Biological interactions: the role of soil bacteria in the bioremediation of heavy metal polluted soils. In: Vangronsveld J, Cunningham SD, editors. Metal contaminated soils: in situ inactivation and phytorestoration. Austin, TX, USA: Springer and RG Landes Co.; 1998. p. 31–50 [Chapter 3].
- [28] Marschner P, Baumann K. Changes in bacterial community structure induced by mycorrhizal colonization in split-root maize. Plant Soil 2003;251:279–89.
- [29] Kamnev AA, van der Lelie, Chemical and biological parameters as tools to evaluate and improve heavy metal phytoremediation. Biosci Rep 2000; 20(4): 239–58.
- [30] Daniels R, Vanderleyden J, Michiels J. Quorum sensing and swarming migration in bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2004;28:261–89.
- [31] Glick BR, Patten CL, Holguin G, Penrose DM. Biochemical and genetic mechanisms used by plant growth-promoting bacteria. London, UK: Imperial College Press; 1999.
- [32] Burd GI, Dixon DG, Glick RR. Plant growth promoting bacteria that decrease heavy metal toxicity in plants. Can J Microbiol 2000;46:237–45.
- [33] Mayak S, Tirosh S, Glick BR. Plant growth promoting bacteria that confer resistance to water stress in tomatoes and peppers. Plant Physiol 2004;166(2):525–30.
- [34] Lucy M, Reed E, Glick BR. Application of free living plant growth promoting rhizobacteria. Antonie von Leeuwenhoek 2004;86:1–25.
- [35] Brundrett MC. Coevolution of roots and mycorrhizas of land plants. New Phytol 2002;154:275–304.
- [36] Khan AG. Mycotrophy and its significance in wetland ecology and wetland management. In: Wong MH, editor. Developments in ecosystems, vol. 1. 2004. p. 95–114 [Chapter 7].
- [37] Read DJ, Duckett JG, Francis R, Ligrone R, Russell A. Symbiotic fungal associations in 'lower' land plants. Philos Trans R Soc London Ser B—Biol Sci 2000;355: 815–30.
- [38] Schussler A, Schwarzott D, Walker C. A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycol Res 2001;105:1413–21.
- [39] Daniell TJ, Husband R, Fitter AH, Young JPW. Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonizing arable crops. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2001; 36:203–9.
- [40] Marschner H. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1995.

8

- [41] Leyval C, Turnau K, Haselwandter. Effect of heavy metal pollution on mycorrhizal colonization and function: physiological, ecological and applied aspects. Mycorrhiza 1997;7:139–53.
- [42] Smith SE, Read DJ. Mycorrhizal symbiosis, 2nd ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1997.
- [43] Weng GY, Wu LH, Wang ZQ, Luo YM, Song J, Wang FY, Lin Q. Enhancement of chemical and microbial materials on phytoremediation of *Elsholtzia splendens* on a co-contaminated soil. In: Proceedings of the fifth international conference on environmental geochemistry in the tropics, March 21–26, 2004, Haiko, Hainan, China. Nanjing, PR China: Institute Soil Science, Chinese Academy of Science; 2004. p 70.
- [44] Giovannetti ML, Avio C, Sbrana C, Citernetti AS. Factors affecting appressorium development in the vesicular–arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus mosseae* (Nicol. & Gerd.) Gerd. & Trappe. New Phytol 1993;123: 115–22.
- [45] Giovannetti M, Sbrana C, Logi C. Early processes involved in host recognition by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol 1994;127:703–9.
- [46] Mosse B. Some studies relating to 'independent' growth of vesicular arbuscular endophytes. Can J Bot 1988;66: 2533–40.
- [47] Oba H, Tawaraya K, Wagatsuma T. Inhibition of presymbiotic hyphal growth of the mycorrhizal fungus *Gigaspora margarita* by root exudates of *Lupinus* spp. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 2002;48:117–20.
- [48] Vierheilig H, Lerat S, Piche Y. Systemic inhibition of arbuscular mycorrhiza development by root exudates of cucumber plants colonized by *Glomus mosseae*. Mycorrhiza 2003;13:167–70.
- [49] Vierheilig H, Bago B, Albrecht C, Poulin MP, Piche Y. Flavonoids and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. In: Manthey JA, Busling BS, editors. Flavonoids in the living system. New York: Plenum; 1998. p. 9–33.
- [50] Akiyama K, Matsuoka H, Hayashi H. Isolation and identification of a phosphorus deficiency-induced Cglycosylflavonoid that stimulate arbuscular mycorrhiza formation in melon roots. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 2002;15:334–40.
- [51] Logi C, Sbrana C, Giovannetti M. Cellular events involved in survival of individual arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiont growing in the absence of the host. Appl Environ Microbiol 1998;64(9):3473–9.
- [52] Tommerup IC. Persistence of infectivity by germinated spores of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil. Trans Br Mycol Soc 1984;82:275–82.
- [53] Giovannetti M, Sabrana C, Citernesi AS, Avio L. Analysis of factors involved in fungal recognition responses to host derived signals by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol 1996;133:65–71.
- [54] Koske RE. Multiple germination of spores of *Gigaspora gigantean*. Trans Br Mycol Soc 1981;76:320–30.
- [55] Chaudhry TM, Khan AG. Role of symbiotic organisms in sustainable plant growth on contaminated industrial sites. In: Rajak RC, editor. Biotechnology of microbes and sustainable utilization. Jodhpur, India: Scientific Pub. (India); 2002. p. 270–9 [Chapter 41].

- [56] Chaudhry TM, Khan AG. Heavy metal accumulation and tolerance in mycorrhizal metalophytes from industrial wastelands of New South Wales, Australia. Uppsala, Sweden: Abstract International Conf. on Mycorrhiza (ICOM II); 2003.
- [57] Hirrel MC, Mehravaran H, Gerdemann JW. Vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizae in the Chenopodiaceae and Cruciferae: do they occur? Can J Bot 1978;56:2813–7.
- [58] DeMars BG, Boerner REJ. Vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal development in the Brassicaceae in relation to plant life span. Flora 1996;191:179–89.
- [59] Bago B. Putative sites for nutrient uptake in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Plant Soil 2000;226:263–74.
- [60] Pawlowska TE, Blaszkowski J, Ruhling A. The mycorrhizal status of plants colonizing a calamine spoil mound in southern Poland. Mycorrhiza 1996;6:499–505.
- [61] Orlowska E, Zubek Sz, Jurkiewicz A, Szarek-Lukaszewska G, Turnau K. Influence of restoration of arbuscular mycorrhiza of *Biscutella laevigata* L. (Brassicaceae) and *Plantago lanceolata* L. (Plantaginaceae) from calamine spoil mounds. Mycorrhiza 2002;12:153–60.
- [62] Saif SR, Khan AG. The influence of season and stage of development of plant on *Endogone* mycorrhiza of fieldgrown wheat. Can J Microbiol 1975;21:1020–4.
- [63] Regvar M, Vogel K, Irgel N, Wraber T, Hildebrandt U, Wilde P, Bothe H. Colonization of pennycresses (*Thlaspi* spp.) of the Brassicaceae by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. J Plant Physiol 2003;160:615–26.
- [64] Clapp JP, Rodriguez A, Dodd JC. Inter- and intra-isolate rRNA large subunit variation in *Glomus coronatum* spores. New Phytol 2001;149:539–54.
- [65] Schreiner RP, Koide RT. Stimulation of vesiculararbuscular mycorrhizal fungi by mycotrophic and nonmycotrophic plant root systems. App Environ Microbiol 1993;59:2750–2.
- [66] Andrade SAL, Abreu CA, de Abreu MF, Silveira APD. Influence of lead addition on arbuscular mycorrhiza and *Rhizobium* symbioses under soybean plants. Appl Soil Ecol 2004;26:123–31.
- [67] Burd GI, Dixon DG, Glick BR. A plant growthpromoting bacterium that decreases nickel toxicity in seedlings. Appl Environ Microbiol 1998;64(10):3663–8.
- [68] Khan AG. The handling of microbes. In: Wong MH, Bradshaw AD, editors. The restoration and management of derelict land: modern approaches. Singapore: World Scientific Publishing; 2002. p. 149–60 (Chapter 13).
- [69] Khan AG. Co-inoculum of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), mycorrhiza-helping bacteria (MBF), and plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) for phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soils. In: Proceedings of the fifth international conference on environmental geochemistry in the tropics, March 21–26, 2004, Haiko, Hainan, China. Nanjing, PR China: Institute Soil Science, Chinese Academy of Science; 2004. p. 68.
- [70] Khan AG. Co-inoculum of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), mycorrhiza-helping bacteria (MHB) and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) for phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soils. In: Proceedings of the fifth internal conference on environmental geochemistry in the tropics, March 21–26, 2004,

Haiko, Hainan, China. Nanjing, PR China: Institute Soil Science, Chinese Academy of Science; 2004. p. 68.

- [71] Rivera-Becerril F, Calantzis C, Turnau K, Caussanel J, Belimov AA, Gianinazzi S, Strasser RJ, Gianinazzi-Pearson V. Cadmium accumulation and buffering of cadmium-induced stress by arbuscular mycorrhiza in three *Pisum sativum* L. genotypes. J Exp Bot 2002;53(371): 1177–85.
- [72] Khan AG. Mycorrhizas and phytoremediation. In: Willey N, editor. Method in biotechnology—phytoremediation: methods and reviews. Totowa, USA: Humana Press; 2005.
- [73] Haselwandter K. Soil microorganism, mycorrhiza and restoration ecology. In: Urbanska K, Webb NR, Edwards PJ, editors. Restoration ecology and sustainable development. Cambridge: Cambridge Press; 1997. p. 65–80.
- [74] Turnau K, Haselwandter K. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, an essential component of soil microflora ecosystem restoration. In: Gianinazzi S, Schuepp H, Barea JM, Haselwandter K, editors. Mycorrhizal technology in agriculture. Switzerland: Birkhauser Verlag; 2002.
- [75] van der Heijden MGA, Boller T, Wiemken A, Sanders IR. Different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal species are potential determinants of plant community structure. Ecology 1998;79:2082–91.
- [76] Francis R, Read DJ. Mutualism and antagonism in the mycorrhizal symbiosis, with special reference to impact on plant community structure. Can J Bot 1995;73: 1301–9.
- [77] Joner EJ, Briones R, Leyval C. Metal binding capacity of arbuscular mycorrhizal mycelium. Plant Soil 2000;226: 227–34.
- [78] Leyal C, Joner EJ, de Val C, Haselwandter K. Potential of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for bioremediation. In: Gianinazzi S, Schuepp H, Barea JM, Haselwandter K,

editors. Mycorrhizal technology in agriculture. Switzerland: Birkhauser Verlag; 2002.

- [79] McGrath SP, Zho FJ, Lombi E. Plant and rhizosphere processes involved in phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. Plant Soil 2001;232:207–14.
- [80] WU SC, Cheung KC, Luo YM, Wong MH. Metal accumulation by *Brassica juncea* sharing rhizosphere with *Zea mays:* effect of mycorrhizal and beneficial bacterial inoculation. In: Proceedings of the fifth international conference on environmental geochemistry in the tropics, March 21–26, 2004, Haiko, Hainan, China. Nanjing, PR China: Institute Soil Science, Chinese Academy of Science; 2004. p. 72.
- [81] Zhang F, Shen J, Li L, Liu X. An overview of rhizosphere processes related with plant nutrition in major cropping systems in China. Plant Soil 2004;260:89–99.
- [82] Wu QT, Liu XM, Meng QQ, Long XX, Schwartz C, Morel JL. Co-crop hyperaccumulator and low-accumulating plants for treating heavy metal contaminated soil and sludge. In: Proceedings of the fifth international conference on environmental geochemistry in the tropics, March 21–26, 2004, Haiko, Hainan, China. Nanjing, PR China: Institute Soil Science, Chinese Academy of Science; 2004, p. 71.
- [83] Panja BN, Chaudhuri S. Exploitation of soil arbuscular mycorrhizal potential for AM-dependent mandarin orange plants by pre-cropping with mycotrophic crops. Appl Soil Ecol 2004;26:249–55.
- [84] Mohammad A, Mitra B, Khan AG. Effects of shearedroot inoculum of *Glomus intraradices* on wheat growth at different phosphorus levels in the field. Agric Ecosyst Environ 2004;103:245–9.
- [85] Khan AG. Growth effects of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhiza on crops in field. In: Mosse B, Tinker PB, editors. Endomycorrhizas. London: Academic Press; 1975. p. 419–36.